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FRANK D. CELEBREZZE, JR., J.:

{111} Defendants-appellants, Brian English (“English”) and Concrete Designs, Inc.
(“Concrete Designs’) (collectively “appellants’) bring this appeal challenging the trial court’s
denial of appellants motion for a new trial, the trial court’s denial of their motion for judgment
notwithstanding the verdict, the stipulation regarding the “permanent and substantial physical
deformity” interrogatory, and the award of noneconomic damages greater than $350,000. After
athorough review of the record and law, this court affirms.

|. Factual and Procedural History

{112} In the early morning hours of November 15, 2010, plaintiffs-appellees, Kiara Torres

(“Torres’) and Joshua Rojas (“Rojas’) were passengers in a car driven by Jovanny Martinez

(“Martinez”) (collectively “appellees’). Rojas was seated in the front passenger seat, Torres was

seated in the rear passenger seat, and a third passenger, Y areline Santiago, was seated in the rear



driver’s seat. Martinez's car was involved in an accident with a dump truck driven by English.
Asaresult of the accident, Rojas and Torres suffered severe injuries.

{113} Torres and Rojas filed an action against Martinez, English, and Concrete Designs.
The separate complaints' alleged negligence against English and negligent entrustment against
Concrete Designs.  Rojas and Torres alleged that English cut off Martinez's car as English was
changing lanes, ultimately causing the accident. Martinez also alleged that English caused the
accident. English alleged that Martinez's car rear-ended his dump truck, failing to keep the
assured clear distance.?

{114} The case proceeded to a jury trial on September 18, 2014. The jury, on October 1,
2014, returned verdicts in favor of Rojas and Torres.  The jury found that appellants were solely
at fault in the collision — Martinez was found to have no liability. The jury awarded Rojas $8.2
million in economic damages and $26.4 million in noneconomic damages for a total of $34.6
million in compensatory damages. The jury awarded Torres $1.8 million in economic damages
and $6 million in noneconomic damages for atotal of $7.8 million in compensatory damages.

{115} Thereafter, on November 11, 2014, appellants filed a motion for a new trial. A
hearing on appellants motion was held on April 20, 2015. On May 1, 2015, Westfield
Insurance Company (“Westfield”) filed a motion to intervene pursuant to Civ.R. 24, which was

granted on May 14, 2015. On May 27, 2015, the court denied appellants’ motion for a new trial.

! Torres filed an action in Cuyahoga C.P. No. CV-12-795422, and Rojas filed an action in Cuyahoga C.P. No.
CV-12-795472. These separate complaints were consolidated at the trial court level.

2 Martinez was charged in Cuyahoga C.P. No. CR-10-545271-A with two counts of aggravated vehicular assault,
third-degree felonies in violation of R.C. 2903.08(A)(2)(b). Martinez ultimately pled guilty to one count of
negligent assault, a third-degree misdemeanor in violation of R.C. 2903.01(A).



On August 20, 2015, appellants appealed from the trial court’s denial of their motion for a new
tria to this court.

{116} In Rojas v. Concrete Designs, Inc., 8th Dist. Cuyahoga Nos. 103418 and 103420,
2017-0hio-379, this court found that the trial court failed to dispose of the negligent entrustment
cause of action. As aresult, this court dismissed the appeal for lack of afinal appealable order.
Rojas at 1 14.

{17} Upon remand, on April 4, 2017, the trial court held a hearing on the negligent
entrustment claims. The trial court found that all parties were in agreement that the negligent
entrustment claims were not pursued by Rojas and Torres. On April 25, 2017, the trial court
issued a judgment entry dismissing the negligent entrustment claims without prejudice.

{118} On May 23, 2017, appellants filed a second motion for a new trial and a motion for
judgment notwithstanding the verdict as to the finding that Torres had sustained a “ permanent
and substantial physical deformity.”® The trial court held a hearing on appellants motions on
October 16, 2017. On November 1, 2017, the trial court issued a judgment entry denying
appellants motions. It is from this November 1, 2017 judgment entry denying appellants
motions that appellants bring this instant appeal, assigning the following six assignments of error
for our review:

I. The trial court erred by falling to grant a new trial on the verdicts against

[appellants] and in favor of Martinez based on excessive noneconomic damages

that appear to be given under the influence of passion or prejudice, and the
presumed prejudice on the liability verdicts.

3 In addition, appellants filed a motion for recusal of the trial court judge regarding a purported conflict that existed
with the trial court judge and an employee who provided therapy to Rojas. The trial court denied this motion and it
is not the subject of this appeal.



[I. The trial court erred in falling to grant a new trial on the verdicts against
[appellants] and in favor of Martinez for the misconduct that resulted in those
verdicts.

[1l. The trial court erred by falling to grant [appellants] new trial against Torres
based on her excessive and unsupported economic damages.

IV. The trial court erred by failing to grant [appellants] notwithstanding the
verdict on the issue of whether Torres sustained a “permanent and substantial
physical deformity.”

V. The tria court erred by finding a stipulation to Rojas having a “ permanent
and substantial physical deformity.”

VI. Thetria court erred by failing to mold Rojas'[s] and Torres'[s] honeconomic
damages to $350,000 each.

[I. Law and Analysis
A. Motion for aNew Trial
{119} In their first, second, and third assignments of error, appellants argue that the trial
court erred in denying their second motion for anew trial pursuant to Civ.R. 59(A).
This court reviews a trial court’s decision on motions for a new trial for an abuse
of discretion where the argument addresses an issue that is within the trial court’s
discretion. Robinson v. Turoczy Bonding Co., 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 103787,
2016-0Ohio-7397, 1 23. An abuse of the trial court’s discretion is connoted by a
decision that is arbitrary, unconscionable, or unreasonable. Blakemore v.
Blakemore, 5 Ohio St.3d 217, 219, 450 N.E.2d 1140 (1983). Where the
argument addresses an issue of law, such as whether the judgment is contrary to
law or the court made an error of law, this court reviews that decision de novo, or
without deference to the trial court’sdecision. Robinson at  23.
Gateway Consultants Group, Inc. v. Premier Physicians Ctrs., Inc., 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No.

104014, 2017-Ohio-1443, 1 12.

1. Excessive Noneconomic Damages



{120} In their first assignment of error, appellants argue that the trial court should have
granted their motion for a new trial pursuant to Civ.R. 59(A)(4) because Rojas's and Torres's
awards of noneconomic damages was excessive.

{11} Civ.R. 59(A) dlows a litigant to challenge a verdict on any one of ten grounds.
Appellants contend that they are entitled to a new trial under Civ.R. 59(A)(4), which provides a
new trial due to “[e]xcessive or inadequate damages, appearing to have been given under the
influence of passion or prejudice.”

{1112} Civ.R. 59(A)(4) has two elements, (1) an excessive or inadequate award, and (2)
evidence of passion or preudice. “Size, per se, will not suffice for proof of passion or
prejudice.” Pearson v. Cleveland Acceptance Corp., 17 Ohio App.2d 239, 245, 246 N.E.2d 602
(8th Dist.1969). “‘[A] judgment will not be reversed on the grounds of misconduct in closing
arguments unless the circumstances are of such reprehensible and heinous nature as to constitute
prejudice.’” Hinkle v. Cleveland Clinic Found., 159 Ohio App.3d 351, 2004-Ohio-6853, 823
N.E.2d 945, 167 (8th Dist.), quoting Hitson v. Cleveland, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 57741, 1990
Ohio App. LEXIS 5466 (Dec. 13, 1990).

a. Passion or Prgudice

{1113} Appellants argue that improper remarks made by Torres's and Rojas's counsel
inflamed the jury’s passion and prejudice. Here, appellants take issue with (1) remarks that
characterized appellants counsel as a liar, (2) remarks that English’s retention of counsel was
evidence of liability, (3) remarks that exploited English’s crimina history, (4) remarks by Rojas’'s
counsel that broke the “golden rule,” and (5) Rojas’'s counsel personally vouched for the
credibility of witnesses. Appellants further argue that the cumulative effect of these remarks had

aprejudicia effect.



{1114} We first note that as a genera rule, “[c]ounsel is allowed wide latitude in
presenting oral argument athough at all times counsel is subject to the supervision of the trial
judge.” Di v. Cleveland Clinic Found., 2016-Ohio-686, 60 N.E.3d 582, 1 104 (8th Dist.), citing
Yerrick v. E. Ohio Gas Co., 119 Ohio App. 220, 223, 198 N.E.2d 472 (9th Dist.1964).

“[T]he determination of whether the bounds of permissible argument have been

exceeded is, in the first instance, a discretionary function to be performed by the

trial court. Therefore, the trial court’s determination will not be reversed absent

an abuse of discretion.”  (Citations omitted.) Pesek v. Univ. Neurologists Assn.,

87 Ohio St.3d 495, 501, 721 N.E.2d 1011 (2000). An abuse of discretion is

indicated by a court's “failure to exercise sound, reasonable, and legal

decision-making.” Sate v. Beechler, 2d Dist. Clark No. 09-CA-54,
2010-Ohio-1900, 1 62. However, that discretion is not absolute. Where “gross

and abusive conduct occurs, the trial court is bound, sua sponte, to correct the

prgudicial effect of counsel’s misconduct.” (Emphasis sic) Shyder v.

Sanford, 15 Ohio St.2d 31, 37, 238 N.E.2d 563 (1968).

Caruso v. Leneghan, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 99582, 2014-Ohio-1824,  57.

{1115} Furthermore,

“Except where counsel, in his opening statement and closing argument to the jury,

grossly and persistently abuses his privilege, the trial court is not required to

intervene sua sponte to admonish counsel and take curative action to nullify the
prejudicial effect of counsel’s conduct. Ordinarily, in order to support a reversal

of a judgment on the ground of misconduct of counsel in his opening statement

and closing argument to the jury, it is necessary that a proper and timely objection

be made to the claimed improper remarks so that the court may take proper action

thereon.” (Emphasis sic) Swder [a paragraph one of the syllabug],

superseded by rule on other grounds as stated in King v. Branch Motor Express

Co., 70 Ohio App.2d 190, 197, 435 N.E.2d 1124 [2d Dist.1980].

Gablev. Gates Mills, 103 Ohio St.3d 449, 2004-Ohio-5719, 816 N.E.2d 1049, { 40.



{1116} In our review of the extensive tria transcript, we note that appellants failed to
object to the large mgjority of remarks made in opening statements and closing arguments with
which they now take issue. Indeed, trial counsel objected to only one noteworthy remark. A
party must generally raise a timely objection to preserve a clam of error. Villella v. Waikem
Motors, Inc., 45 Ohio St.3d 36, 39-40, 543 N.E.2d 464 (1989). Failure to do so prevents
reversal absent gross and persistent abuse of counsel’s privilege in closing argument.*  Shyder at
37-38.

{1117} In reviewing the entirety of these proceedings, we note that opening and closing
statements are not evidence. Peffer v. Cleveland Clinic Found., 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 94356,
2011-Ohio-450, 1 27, citing Sate v. Spaqi, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 69851, 1997 Ohio App.
LEXIS 713 (Feb. 27, 1997). Thetrial judge in this instance instructed the jury as such, and the
jury is presumed to follow the proper instructions of the tria court. State v. Ahmed, 103 Ohio
St.3d 27, 2004-Ohio-4190, 813 N.E.2d 637, Sate v. Hancock, 108 Ohio St.3d 57,
2006-Ohio-160, 840 N.E.2d 1032. Indeed, the “presumption always exists that the jury has
followed the instructions given to it by the trial court.” Pang v. Minch, 53 Ohio St.3d 186, 187,
559 N.E.2d 1313 (1990), paragraph four of the syllabus. Here, we note the following charge to
the jury with regard to thisissue:

[Clertain statements that were made during the trial that were ordered stricken

when | sustained an objection and then you were instructed to disregard the

answer, and you are not to construe the evidence in the case as if any of the

stricken comments or statements were never made, okay? Y ou'reto ignore them

basically.
(Tr. 1453-1454.)

4 We also note that appellants take issue with various other remarks made by Rojas's trial counsel during
cross-examination of English. These remarks by Rojas's counsel were objected to by appellants’ counsel and the
trial court sustained the objection. Therefore, we do not include these remarks in our analysis because it is
presumed the jury followed the trial court’sinstruction to disregard such remarks.



{118} The large majority of the remarks with which appellants take issue were made
during closing arguments. “Closing argument allows counsel tosummarize the evidence
presented and assist the jury in analyzing, evaluating, and applying the evidence.” Kassay v.
Niederst Mgt., 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 106016, 2018-Ohio-2057, 1 43, citing Sate v. Hinton, 8th
Dist. Cuyahoga No. 99581, 2014-Ohio-490, § 29; Sate v. Merrill, 22 Ohio App.3d 119, 124,
489 N.E.2d 1057 (8th Dist.1984). *“*A [party] may freely comment in closing argument on what
the evidence has shown and what reasonable inferences the [party] believes may be drawn
therefrom.”” Peffer at § 27, quoting Sate v. Clay, 181 Ohio App.3d 563, 2009-Ohio-1235, 910
N.E.2d 14, § 47 (8th Dist.). However, “[a]n attorney should not express his [or her] personal
belief or opinion as to the credibility of a witness or as to the guilt of the accused or allude to
matters which are not supported by admissible evidence.” Sate v. Royce, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga
No. 61897, 1993 Ohio App. LEXIS 2788, 7 (June 3, 1993), citing Sate v. Smith, 14 Ohio St.3d
13, 470 N.E.2d 883 (1984). To this end, we note the trial court’s following charge to the jury
on thisissue:

Evidence does not include statements of counsel during the trial. The opening

statements, nor the closing arguments of counsel are to be construed as evidence

either. They are made to assist you in arriving at a just verdict, but they are not

evidence.
(Tr. 1453.)

{1119} Appellants contend that Rojas's and Torres's counsel made specific remarks in
closing arguments that portrayed appellants counsel as a liar. Here, we note the following
remarks from both Rojas's and Torres's counsel’ s closing arguments:

[Rojas's counsel]:  If you play amoviein your mind of [English’s] version

of the accident versus [Martinez's] version of the accident, [Martinez' 5| version

starts and finishes completely. [English’s] version has holesin it, alot of holesin
it, to make it very difficult to determine where [English ig] at.



(Tr. 1499.)
[Rojas's counsel]: | think [the evidence] is pretty clear and the evidence is
overwhelming that [English] is, if not 100 percent at fault, substantially at fault
for this accident. Defense counsel is going to say 100 percent, O percent for
either one and that’ s the only way you do it.
It' s within your province to determine and apportion the fault.
(Tr. 1496.)
{1120} Furthermore, we note Rojas’'s counsel’ s remarks in his closing argument rebuttal :
[Rojas's counsel]: [Appellants’ counsel] is not telling you the truth about the law.
In fact, | think she’s very plainly not telling the truth about the law. You're
going to receive the interrogatories, which is nothing more than a fancy word for
guestions. They are jury questions, and it asks you specifically if both [Martinez
and English] are negligent?
If they are both negligent and you agree, then you can apportion the fault. Itisn't
100 percent or nothing.
(Tr. 1589.)
[Torres's counsel]: | want to agree with one thing [Rojas's counsel] said.
There' s only one party here trying to deceive you, to do wordsmithing, to distort
the factsin this case and that is [appellants' counsel] and [English].
(Tr. 1594.)
{1121} We also note these remarks made by appellants' counsel, which preceded Rojas's
counsel’ srebuttal remarks:
[Appellants counsel]: There's only one cause, and it can’'t be both ways. It
cannot be that * * * [Rojas] was injured by both [Martinez] and [English] * * *[.]
It's either arear-end accident or it is a cutoff (indicating). Either way. It has
got to be one or the other. It cannot be both. * * * It's all or nothing.

(Tr. 1528-1529.) First, we note the following charge to the jury on this topic: “what

percentage of fault should be assigned to each defendant.” (Tr. 1460.) Considering these



particular remarks in context with appellants counsel’s remarks, we do not agree that these
remarks cast appellants’ counsel as a liar especially when taken in context of the entirety of the
parties closing arguments. These remarks illustrate an attempt by Rojas’s counsel to clarify the
law as to the parties’ theories regarding liability for the accident. Thus, these remarks did not
prejudice appellants.

{1122} Appellants also contend that Rojas's and Torres' s counsel made improper remarks
that were offered as evidence of appellants liability. Here, appellants contend that these
remarks suggested that English’s cooperation with the police on the night of the accident and his
retention of counsel demonstrated his liability. Specifically, we note the following comments
made during opening statements:

[Rojas's counsel]: [Martinez] does not have an attorney that’s involved at this
time. [Martinez is] going to testify during that time he didn’t have an attorney
involved, he did not have a law firm helping, he did not have an accident
reconstructionist talking to the police or really explaining what happened in the
accident so that the police have both sides of the story without jumping to
conclusions.

(Tr. 409.)

[Rojas's counsel]:  [Martinez] comes up with a plea because he’'s worried about
two things. You're going to hear his testimony. He's worried about going to
jail, so he pleads guilty to a negligent assault on this. And you’'re going to hear
about that. He's defended by a public defender. He didn’'t have the resources
that we're al going to have here today, all the accident reconstructionists to
evauate everything. So he comes up with aplea.  And he was also — he was
told that he can’t see his friends while the prosecution was pending. So he just
wanted to be able to convalesce and be with this friends; so that when [Rojas]
came out of the coma, he could be there to comfort his friends and be part of that.

(Tr. 411-412))
{1123} In addition, we note the following remarks during closing arguments:

[Rojas’'s counsel]: While [Torres] and [Rojas] were in the hospital, * * *
[English] got a jump strategically maneuvering in this case and what happened



here in this courtroom. * * * [W]ithin three weeks of this particular accident,
[English] had formulated his troops and started working towards strategically
defending this case. If thisis truly just an automobile rear-end accident or an
assured clear distance case, why do you need to hire an attorney? Why do you
need to hire an accident reconstructionist? Why do you need to defend just a
simple auto rear-ender? Why do you have to go to the great expense that they
have gone to in order to defend this case by hiring a firm and an accident
reconstructionist? * * * If thisis a simple rear-end accident case, then you don’t
need to create this defense and create this group of folks to come in and defend
this particular case. * * * [English] didn't understand what he saw [when he
changed lanes|. Hedidn’t move when it was safe and he became the hazard, and
he knows that he became the hazard. That's why the attorneys and everybody
were involved so early in this case.

(Tr. 1480-1483.)

[Rojas’s counsel]: We had to file a lawsuit in order to find out what was truly

behind al of the issues and statements that were raised in the police report,

because some statements didn’t make sense, some statements made sense, so we

filed alawsuit against both [English] and [Martinez] in order to understand truly

what happened, and the only way we can understand truly what happened in this

caseis by filing that lawsuit and then talking with the various parties.

(Tr. 1484.)

{1124} In support of appellants arguments here, appellants direct our attention to
Szemorev. Fletcher, 921 F.2d 667 (6th Cir.1990), where awrit of habeus corpus was granted on
prosecutorial misconduct grounds. In Szemore, the Sixth District noted in particular the
“frequency and deliberateness’ of the prosecutor’s comments regarding the defendant consulting
with counsel. The prosecutor made statements that suggested to the jury that the defendant
hired an attorney to create an dibi, or to “take[] care of everything” or “get . . . [his] story
straight.” Szemoreat 671. The court went on to note that “[sjuch statements strike at the core
of the right to counsel, and must not be permitted.” Id., citing United States v. McDonald, 620

F.2d 559, 564 (5th Cir.1980). The court further noted that “the trial transcript reveals

intentional and repeated attempts by the prosecutor to question Sizemore's motives for



consulting with counsel, and she clearly invited the jurors to view Sizemore's ability to hire
several attorneys with suspicion.”  Id.

{1125} To the extent that appellants rely upon Szemore, we note that it concerned a writ of
habeas corpus based upon prosecutorial misconduct. The prosecutor’s remarks in Szemore
amounted to misconduct because the prosecutor commented on the right of the accused to retain
counsel pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. However, the
instant matter is not a criminal matter and there exists no constitutional protections in civil
matters akin to the constitutional protections that so prejudiced Sizemore. Indeed, the remarks
in Szemore amounted to prosecutorial misconduct because the remarks struck at the core of
constitutional protections afforded to defendants in criminal matters. Thus, even if we were to
agree with appellants that these remarks prejudiced them, it would not require us to reverse the
trial court’s denial of appellants’ motion for a new trial. Lastly, these remarks were made in
opening statements and closing arguments, and therefore, were not evidence.

{1126} Appellants also contend that Rojas's and Torres's counsel vouched for the
“justness’ of Rojas's and Torres's cause and vouched for the credibility of their witnesses.
Appellants take issue with the following remarks:

[Rojas's counsel]:  If you play amoviein your mind of [English’s] version of the

accident versus [Martinez's| version of the accident, [Martinez's| version starts

and finishes completely. [English’s] version has holesin it, alot of holesin it, to

make it very difficult to determine where [English ig] at.

(Tr. 1499.)

[Rojas's counsel]: You have to look at the credibility of the witnesses too.

Who was [English] staying with?* * * Where was [English] going? He couldn’t

tell us even the last name of the gentleman he was staying with on the morning —

on that Sunday morning. His route from Brecksville to the supposed job

estimate on East 55th Street is unusual, and then he doesn’t even know what the
jobisand can't articulated [sic] what that job is that he wants to go to.



All these things go his credibility and his believability at the end of the day.

Who was he staying with? What route was he taking? Who was he meeting up

with thereafter?

(Tr. 1497-1498.)

[Torres's counsel]: It realy comes down to credibility. That’'s what it comes

down to, credibility. Who do you believe? What expert do you believe? * *

* | think the evidence shows that the version by Martinez is just more credible

and more believable.

(Tr. 1522.)

{127} We do not find these comments to be improperly vouching for the credibility of a
witness. Indeed, these comments relate to what counsel argued the evidence showed and what
reasonable inferences they argued should be drawn therefrom. The accident occurred in the
early morning hours at approximately 5:00 am. At trial, English stated that he was in route to
do an estimate on a concrete job. Therefore, Rojas's and Torres's counsel’s above statement
references evidence that was adduced at trial and what reasonable inferences the jury could have

drawn from that evidence. We find no prejudice in these remarks; these remarks represent

legitimate arguments regarding the credibility of various witnesses based on evidence introduced

at trial.
{1128} Appellants take issue with the following remarks:
[Rojas's counsel]: [Rojas is] a sweetheart of a guy. | think you're going to
really like him. | hope that he's in good spirits and in a good mood because
that’s how I’ ve come to know him, and | hope you come to know him in the same
way.

(Tr. 387.)

[Torres's counsel]: | can tell you, when | first heard the circumstances of this
accident, and again, it's been four years, my first assumption was that it was



probably the kids fault,® because there's four kids, and [English] is a guy that

looks just like me, he's my age. | assumed the kids must have done something

wrong. But | have had the benefit now of four years of my life involved in this

case, four years of learning the facts, taking depositions. And | no longer think

that. | think that [English] isresponsible for this accident.

[Appellants’ counsel]: Objection to his personal —

THE COURT: Keep going.

[Torres'scounsel]: | believe that because you’ re going to hear testimony].]

(Tr. 418-419.)

{1129} The remark from Rojas’'s counsel is not a comment on Rojas's credibility as a
witness. Indeed, Rojas did not testify at trial.  Additionally, with regards to Rojas’'s counsel’s
remark that he thought the evidence was going to show English was liable was simply his
obvious theory on the case. It certainly is not impermissible for a plaintiff’s counsel to remark
in opening statements that a defendant is responsible or liable for an accident. In the instant
matter, this was a permissible topic during opening statements, although it could have been stated
in amore proper way, i.e., “the evidence will show that English is responsible for the accident.”

{1130} However, the remarks by Torres' s counsel stating that he thought “English [was]
responsible for this accident” and that he “believe[d] that because [the jury is] going to hear the
testimony” are impermissibly vouching for the culpability of alitigant. See Sate v. Alfieri, 132
Ohio App.3d 69, 84-85, 724 N.E.2d 477 (1st Dist.1998) (where a prosecuting attorney’s
statement in rebuttal closing arguments that “1’ ve been practicing law and doing these [sic] for a
long time. David Bahler is one of the best witnesses I’ve ever seen or had in a courtroom”

amounted to “personally vouching for the credibility of the state’s witness’ and “was an invasion

on the province of the jury[.]”). Although we find this remark to be impermissibly vouching,

5> Referring to the individuals traveling in Martinez' s vehicle.



when we assess “the effect of the misconduct within the context of the entire case, and more
particularly the entire closing argument, we are unable to conclude that it had the effect of
depriving” appellants of afair trial.  Alfieri at 85.

{1131} Lastly, to the extent that appellants’ counsel argue that these remarks also violated
the Ohio Rules of Professional Conduct, this court does not have jurisdiction over appellants
assertion. Buck v. Maloney, 102 Ohio St.3d 250, 2004-Ohio-2590, 809 N.E.2d 20, § 7-8 (the
Supreme Court of Ohio has exclusive and absolute jurisdiction over the discipline of attorneys);
Sate v. Montgomery, 2013-Ohio-4193, 997 N.E.2d 579, { 36 (8th Dist.) (appellate courts “have
no authority to address claimed violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct — that authority
rests solely with the Ohio Supreme Court.”).

{1132} Appellants further argue that the remarks regarding English’s criminal history
prejudiced appellants. The remarks appellants’ take issue with here were objected to by
appellants’ counsel. Moreover, this objection was sustained by the trial court. As stated above,
the trial court instructed the jury to disregard such a remark and the jury is presumed to follow
the proper instructions of the trial court. Ahmed, 103 Ohio St.3d 27, 2004-Ohio-4190, 813
N.E.2d 637; Hancock, 108 Ohio St.3d 57, 2006-Ohio-160, 840 N.E.2d 1032. Thus, we cannot
agree with appellants that the remarks regarding English’s criminal history prejudiced appellants.

{1133} Appellants also argue that Rojas's counsel violated the “golden rule.” A “golden
rule” argument exists when counsel appeals to the jurors to abandon their position of impartiality
by placing themselves in the place of one of the parties. Cooley v. Leaseway Transp. Co. USA,
8th Dist. Cuyahoga Nos. 62198 and 62732, 1993 Ohio App. LEXIS 2631, 6 (May 20, 1993).
“Generally, a ‘golden rule’ argument is improper. However, a ‘golden rule’ comment during

closing argument is not per se prejudicial so as to warrant a new trial.” Schroeder v. Parker,



8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 73907, 1998 Ohio App. LEXIS 5919, 8 (Dec. 10, 1998), citing Dillon v.
Bundy, 72 Ohio App.3d 767, 775, 596 N.E.2d 500 (10th Dist.1991).

{1134} Appellants contend that Rojas's counsel’s following remarks violated the “golden
rule’:

[Rojas's counsel]:  If you use $150 an hour figure for 16 waking hours to be like

[Rojas] and there was a classified ad taken out that you were looking at to respond

to, would you take that job for $150 an hour to be like Joshua Rojas? The

answer is probably not.

[Y]ou are supposed to take 10,000 steps a day to stay healthy; so if you put a

dollar figureto the 10,000 steps, if it is 10 centsaday — or 10 cents per step for

10,000 steps, that's like a $1,000 a day.

It is not $150 an hour for 16 hours, but it is $1,000 aday. Would you take the

job of being [Rojas] for an annual salary of $365,000? The answer is probably

not. These are the things we need to value.
(Tr. 1515-1516.)

{9135} In Hunt v. Crossroads Psych. & Psychological Ctr., 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 79120,
2001 Ohio App. LEXIS 5388, 8 (Dec. 6, 2001), this court reviewed statements made by defense
counsdl at trial on claims of medical negligence and wrongful death. The remarks at issue in
Hunt were as follows:

Ms. Ried: Asyou listen to the evidence in this case, particularly when you listen

to the evidence presented on March 3, 1999, | want to ask you to do something for

me, | want you to try to walk in Dr. Schulz’ s shoes knowing what he knew on that

day. Don’t look back at this case in hindsight, knowing what happened —

Mr. Perantinides: Excuse me, your honor, | have to object to that argument.

The Court: Overruled.

Ms. Reid: | ask you to walk in Dr. SchulZ's shoes, sit in his chair as he sat with
Matthew Hunt and looked at him face to face for over an hour * * *,



Id. at 7. Mindful that trial counsel is afforded great latitude during arguments before the
court, this court stated that

we are not persuaded that those statements resulted in any preudice to the

appellant. The record does not demonstrate that the comments were so heinous

or reprehensible that the jury would abandon their position of impartiality or that

the appellant would have been prejudiced by the statements.

Id. at 8.

{1136} In this case, appellants’ counsel failed to object to the remarks they now challenge
as golden rule violations. “A party’s failure at trial to object to a ‘golden rule’ argument or to
request from the trial court curative action by way of admonishment to jury waives any such
error.”  Schroeder, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 73907, 1998 Ohio App. LEXIS 5919, at 8, citing
Yerrick, 119 Ohio App. at 224, 198 N.E.2d 472. Thus, appellants have waived these particular
arguments.

{1137} However, even if appellants had objected, reviewing these remarks, we do not find
them to be appealing to the jurors to abandon their impartiality. These remarks were an attempt
to assist the jurors in quantifying the damages amount or providing a means of quantifying the
damages amount. As in Hunt, we are similarly persuaded here that the remarks made by
Rojas's counsel were not so heinous or reprehensible that the jury would have abandoned their
position of impartiality. Moreover, appellants were not prejudiced by these remarks.

{1138} Findly, in considering the entirety of appellants’ arguments, we do not find that the
cumulative effect of these remarks prejudiced appellants. The tria court concluded that these

remarks “amount to nothing more than trial tactics and strategy” and we do not find that the trial

court abused its discretion in that regard.



{1139} After reviewing the record, this court cannot agree with appellants that Rojas' s and
Torres's counsal engaged in prejudicial misconduct or improperly influenced the jury through
passion or pregudice. Moreover, we do not find the award of damages was “so grossly
disproportionate as to shock the sensibilities” Berry v. Lupica, 196 Ohio App.3d 687,
2011-0Ohio-5381, 965 N.E.2d 318, 1 39 (8th Dist.), citing Airborne Express, Inc. v. Sys. Research
Laboratories, Inc., 106 Ohio App.3d 498, 510, 666 N.E.2d 584 (12th Dist.1995). Furthermore,
although we find the remarks concerning appellants’ retention of counsel impermissible, we find
that these remarks were not so reprehensible or heinous that they compelled the jury’s verdict.
In denying appellants’ new trial motion, the trial court noted that these remarks amounted to
“trial strategy.” In this regard, we defer to the trial court because the judge was in a better
position to determine if the remarks prejudiced appellants as to require anew trial. See Lupica
a 1 55. Accordingly, we do not find that the trial court abused its discretion in denying
appellants’ motion for anew trial.

b. R.C.2315.19

{1140} Appellants also argue within their first assignment of error that the trial court erred
in denying their new trial motion pursuant to R.C. 2315.19. More specificaly, appellants
contend that the damages award was the result of the improper consideration of English’s wealth
and the damages award was excessive compared to similar cases. R.C. 2315.19(A) provides
that a defendant may file a post-judgment motion requesting “atrial court in a tort action shall
review the evidence supporting an award of compensatory damages for noneconomic loss that
the defendant has challenged as excessive.” “An appellate court shall use a de novo standard of
review when considering an appeal of an award of compensatory damages for noneconomic loss

on the grounds that the award isinadequate or excessive.” R.C. 2315.19(C).



{141} First, we note that appellants argue here, as they did in the tria court, that a new
trial should have been granted pursuant to Civ.R. 59(A) and R.C. 2315.19. However, R.C.
2315.19 is not a mechanism for a motion for a new trial, contrary to what appellants contend.
R.C. 2315.19 provides a statutory mechanism for a party to file a post-judgment motion
chalenging an excessive award of compensatory damages. Nevertheless, we address
appellants arguments below.

{1142} Appellants argue that these particular remarks “disingenuously cast English as a
businessman who deployed great resources — at ‘great expense — to influence
liability-determining events.” Appellants brief at 27. The particular remarks that appellants
take issue with here have been previously highlighted above. Appellants take issue with similar
statements that either portrayed English and his defense team as having expended vast financial
resources or portrayed Martinez as having little to no financial resources. Appellants argue that
these statements were offered to establish liability on the part of English and reduce Martinez's
ligbility.

{1143} Having reviewed these remarks, and having considered the entirety of the
proceedings, we find no basis to reverse the trial court’s judgment. Further, appellants did not
object to any of these particular remarks at the trial court level.

{1144} Appellants also argue that pursuant to R.C. 2315.19(A)(2), the verdict was
excessive compared to similar cases. R.C. 2315.19(A)(2) affords a defendant the ability to
chalenge a jury’s award based upon “[w]hether the verdict is in excess of verdicts involving

comparableinjuriesto similarly situated plaintiffs.”



{1145} Appellants specifically argue here that the jury’s award of noneconomic damages
to both Rojas and Torres “dwarfs’ national and Ohio noneconomic damages awards for such
braininjuries. We disagree.

{1146} We note, as the trial court did, the following recent Cuyahoga County verdicts:
(1) $27,500,000 in compensatory damages in a mesothelioma case, (2) $23,018,790 in
compensatory damages to a plaintiff, in his early forties, who was a passenger on a Greyhound
bus and sustained a severed lower limb extremity, a severed urethra, and had a lower limb
amputated, and (3) $19,000,000 in compensatory damages in a wrongful death suit of a
41-year-old construction worker struck and killed by a motorist in a construction zone.

{1147} This court’s standard of review under R.C. 2315.19 isde novo. “De novo review
encompasses an independent examination of the record and law without deference to the
underlying decision.” Gateway Consultants Group, Inc., 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 104014,
2017-Ohio-1443, at § 22, citing Demeraski v. Bailey, 2015-Ohio-2162, 35 N.E.3d 913 (8th
Dist.). In our independent review of these damages awards, we do not find that the verdicts
were in excess of verdicts involving comparable injuries to similarly situated plaintiffs.

{1148} Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying appellants post-judgment motion
pursuant to R.C. 2315.19.

{1149} As to their first assignment of error, we find that these remarks were not so
reprehensible or heinous that they compelled the jury’ sverdict. In denying appellants new trial
motion, the trial court noted that these remarks amounted to “trial strategy.” In this regard, we
defer to the trial court because the judge was in a better position to determine if the remarks
prejudiced appellants as to require a new trial. See Lupica, 196 Ohio App.3d 687,

2011-0Ohio-5381, 965 N.E.2d 318, at 1 55.



{9150} Accordingly, appellants’ first assignment of error is overruled.
2. Misconduct By The Prevailing Parties

{1151} In their second assignment of error, appellants contend that the same remarks we
highlighted above constitute misconduct by the prevailing parties pursuant to Civ.R. 59(A)(2).
More specifically, appellants contend that Rojas's and Torres's counsel’ s remarks were so gross
and abusive that the trial court should have intervened, sua sponte, to correct the misconduct.

{1152} In support of their argument, appellants direct our attention to Pesek, 87 Ohio St.3d
495, 721 N.E.2d 1011. In Pesek, the Ohio Supreme Court granted a new trial on an error in the
jury instructions that disposed of the appeal. The court nevertheless addressed defendant’s trial
counsel’s improper remarks in closing arguments and noted that such remarks could be grounds
for anew trial. Id. at 500. Plaintiff’s counsel did not object to most of the remarks made by
defendant’ s counsel, however, the court noted that *“where gross and abusive conduct occurs, the
trial court is bound, sua sponte, to correct the preudicial effect of counsel’s misconduct.”’
(Emphasissic.) Id. at 501, quoting Shyder, 15 Ohio St.2d 31, 238 N.E.2d 563.

{1153} In Pesek, the court noted that defendant’s counsel “made various assertions and
drew many inferences that were ssmply not warranted by the evidence.” 1d. Some of the
remarks that plaintiff’s counsel took issue with were insults directed at plaintiff’s counsel:

This is a misrepresentation. A deliberate — and there are a lot of deliberate

misrepresentations in this case and we're going to go through any number of
them.

* * %

What [plaintiff’s counsel] did following that settlement should raise feelings of
disgust in you. Disgust that the lega system would allow this to happen and
disgust at [plaintiff’s counsel] as an attorney.

* % %



| find that very sad that [plaintiff’s counsel] would be in this courtroom in this

case asking for 18 million dollars in damages and he would stand behind your

back over here and laugh, folks. Actually I’'m not too surprised because it fits in

with everything that’s been going on with thiscase. The half-truths, the untruths,

the threatening of witnesses, the suppression of evidence. It fits [plaintiff’'s

counsel’s| personality.

Id. at 500. The Ohio Supreme Court further noted that

[t]o attack counsel for appellant and appellant’s expert witness was inexcusable,

unprincipled, and clearly outside the scope of final argument. Appellees

counsel could have zealously represented his clients without resorting to these
abusive tactics. Instead, counsel for appellees transcended the bounds of
acceptable closing argument, creating an atmosphere “surcharged with passion or

prejudice.” [Jonesv. Macedonia-Northfield Banking Co.,] 132 Ohio St. 341,

351, 7 N.E.2d [(1937)].

Id. at 501-502.

{1154} As we noted above, trial counsel is afforded great latitude in presenting their
arguments to the jury. Considering the standard set forth in Pesek, we do not find the remarks
made by Rojas' s counsel or Torres's counsel to be so gross and abusive that required the court to
intervene sua sponte.  Therefore, we cannot say that the remarks appellants' counsel takes issue
with “transcended the bounds of acceptable closing argument, creating an atmosphere surcharged
with passion or prejudice.” 1d. at 500-501.

{9155} Accordingly, appellants second assignment of error is overruled.

3. Torres' s Economic Damages

{1156} In appellants’ third assignment of error, appellants argue that their motion for a
new trial should have been granted because the award of economic damages to Torres was not
supported by the evidence and was the result of jurors passion and prejudice.

{1157} Appellants contend that pursuant to Civ.R. 59(A)(4) and (6), they are entitled to a

new trial. Civ.R. 59(A) provides, in relevant part,



A new trial may be granted to all or any of the parties and on all or part of the
issues upon any of the following grounds:

* * %

(4) Excessive or inadequate damages, appearing to have been given under the
influence of passion or prejudice;

(6) The judgment is not sustained by the weight of the evidence; however, only

one new trial may be granted on the weight of the evidence in the same case| ]

{1158} Regarding these arguments, this court reviews a trial court’s decision on motions
for anew trial for an abuse of discretion where the argument addresses an issue that is within the
trial court’s discretion. Robinson, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 103787, 2016-Ohio-7397, at  23.
An abuse of thetrial court’s discretion is connoted by a decision that is arbitrary, unconscionable,
or unreasonable. Blakemore, 5 Ohio St.3d at 219, 450 N.E.2d 1140.

{1159} Appellants argue the award of $1.8 million in economic damages to Torres was
given under the influence of jurors passion and prejudice. For the same reasons set forth in our
analysis above, we regject appellants’ arguments here as we did with appellants’ first and second
assignments of error.

{1160} Appellants also argue that the award of $1.8 million in economic damages to
Torres was excessive and not supported by the evidence. In particular, appellants take issue
with the damages award amount constituting Torres's “lost earning capacity” and medical
expenses. Appellants contend that there is no evidence within the record of Torres' s “work-life

expectancy” or Torres' s medical expenses.



{1161} First, we note that the jury’s award of economic damages to Torres constituted all
economic loss suffered as a result of her injuries. Indeed, no itemized list of the specific
amounts of Torres' s economic damages award exists within the record before this court.

{1162} Therefore, to the extent that appellants argue that there is no evidence within the
record of an amount of medical expenses, thisis simply untrue. In our review of the record, in
particular “Plaintiff’s exhibit No. 20,” we note that this exhibit clearly lists Torres s total medical
expenses as $168,460.64. Thus, there was sufficient evidence within the record for the jury to
make a determination asto Torres' s medical expenses.

{1163} If one were to conclude that the jury in fact awarded $168,460.64 in medical
expenses to Torres, then the amount of $1,631,539.36 would remain for all other economic
losses, including damages for work-life expectancy.

{1164} “*An award of future damages for future wage loss raises two independent
evidentiary concerns. (1) whether a plaintiff offered sufficient proof of future impairment; and
(2) whether a plaintiff offered sufficient evidence of the extent of prospective damages flowing
from the impairment.”” Marzullo v. J.D. Pavement Maintenance, 2011-Ohio-6261, 975 N.E.2d
1, 117 (8th Dist.), quoting Power v. Kirkpatrick, 10th Dist. Franklin No. 99AP-1026, 2000 Ohio
App. LEXIS 3231 (July 20, 2000). “In order to recover lost earnings, a plaintiff must establish
the lost earnings with reasonable certainty.” Austin v. Chukwuani, 2017-Ohio-106, 80 N.E.3d
1199, § 21 (8th Dist.), citing AGF, Inc. v. Great Lakes Heat Treating Co., 51 Ohio St.3d 177,
555 N.E.2d 634 (1990).

{1165} In the instant matter, a clinical neuropsychologist, Dr. Jody Pickle, testified that
Torres has an IQ of 67. Torres suffers from cognitive and behaviora functioning limitations
that greatly affect her daily life. Dr. Pickle opined that Torres will never be able to work or live
independently, and she does not possess the cognitive capacity to appreciate the severity of her
brain injury. Dr. Pickle opined that “[Torres is] very impulsive. Her what we call executive

function, which is goal-directed behavior, is diminished. [Torres| has lost the ability to kind of

look into the future and see what the consequences of her behavior are going to be.”  (Tr. 945.)



Dr. Pickle further opined that “[yJou get big changes in executive function, and that’s
goal-directed behavior, self-awareness, self-monitoring, impulsive inhibition and all those kinds
of behaviors that make adults successful in managing everything for their own lives.”  (Tr. 952.)

{1166} Therefore, to the extent that appellants argue that there is no evidence of Torres's
work-life expectancy, we disagree. In Marzullo, this court was faced with a similar issue.
This court expressed concern with the lack of medical testimony supporting a doctor’s
assumption that a plaintiff’s injury rendered her unemployed for the duration of her life
expectancy. Marzullo at §21. This court noted that the plaintiff’s medical experts and her
psychological expert did not testify with any reasonable degree of certainty that plaintiff’s injury
prevented her from obtaining her preinjury wage or from performing daily activities. Id. at 1 18.

{167} In the instant matter, Dr. Pickle testified to a reasonable degree of
neuropsychological certainty. (Tr. 947, 949.) Therefore, there existed competent and credible
medical testimony that enabled the jury to conclude that because Torres suffered injuries, her
injuries prevented her from attaining any sort of work-life expectancy whatsoever.

{1168} We also note thetria court’s jury instructions on the matter:

Economic loss means financial harm to the plaintiff resulting from his or her

injury, including all expenditures for medical care or treatment, rehabilitation

services or other care, treatment, services, products or accommodations incurred

as aresult of [their] injury and any other expenditures incurred as a result of their

injury other than attorney feesincurred by the plaintiff.

You will aso consider what loss, if any, of earnings each plaintiff will reasonably

— will with reasonable certainty sustain in the future as a proximate cause of the

injury. The measure of such damage is what the evidence shows with reasonable

certainty to be the difference between the amount he was capable of earning

before he was injured and the amount he is capable of earning in the future in his
injured condition.



(Tr. 1467-1468.) The jury could therefore award future economic damages based on any of
these categories provided. See Marzullo, 2011-Ohio-6261, 975 N.E.2d 1, at § 25.

{169} Considering the fact that Torres was 16 years old when she suffered her injuries,
the economic loss criteria provided to the jury by the trial court, and the medical testimony
provided by Dr. Pickle, we do not find the jury’s award of economic damages to be excessive.
“Asthetrier of fact, the jury was free to accept or reject any or all of appellants evidence relating
to damages.” Id. at 55, citing Ayers v. Ishler, 5th Dist. Delaware No. 11 CAE 01 0001,
2011-Ohio-4272, 1 60.

{70}  Accordingly, appellants' third assignment of error isoverruled.

B. Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict

{171} In their fourth assignment of error, appellants argue that the trial court erred by
denying their motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (*JNOV”) on the issue of whether
Torres sustained a“permanent and substantial physical deformity.”

{1172} This court reviews de novo a ruling on a INOV because it presents a question of
law. Seese v. Adnr., Bur. of Workers Comp., 11th Dist. Trumbull No. 2009-T-0018,
2009-Ohio-6521, 1 11.

The test to be applied by a trial court in ruling on a motion for judgment

notwithstanding the verdict is the same test to be applied on a motion for a

directed verdict. The evidence adduced at trial and the facts established by

admissions in the pleadings and in the record must be construed most strongly in

favor of the party against whom the motion is made, and, where there is

substantial evidence to support his side of the case, upon which reasonable minds

may reach different conclusions, the motion must be denied. Neither the weight

of the evidence nor the credibility of the witnessesis for the court’s determination

in ruling upon either of the above motions.

(Citations omitted.) Posin v. A.B.C. Motor Court Hotel, Inc., 45 Ohio St.2d 271, 275, 344

N.E.2d 334 (1976); seealso Civ.R. 50(A)(4).



{173} In reviewing a decision on a JNQOV, this court does not weigh the evidence or
evaluate the credibility of witnesses, but must determine whether there is “sufficient material
evidence presented at trial on this issue to create a factual question for the jury.” Malone v.
Courtyard by Marriott Ltd. Partnership, 74 Ohio St.3d 440, 445, 659 N.E.2d 1242 (1996).
Further, “[a]bsent a reason to do otherwise, we presume regularity in the jury’s verdict.”
Frederick D. Harris, M.D., Inc. v. Univ. Hosps., 8th Dist. Cuyahoga Nos. 76724 and 76785,
2002 Ohio App. LEX1S 1032, 1042 (Mar. 7, 2002).

{1174} Appellants contend that the jury’s findings that Torres's injury amounted to a
“permanent and substantial physical deformity” is not supported by substantial evidence. In
support of their argument, appellants note that Torres' s head injuries resulted in a scar across her
forehead and face, and down over the bridge of her nose. Appellants argue that the scar had
healed sufficiently, and thus, there was no actual evidence of a “permanent and substantial
physical deformity.”

{1175} Pursuant to R.C. 2315.18, Torres would be precluded from recovering more than
$350,000 in noneconomic damages, unless Torres could have proven that the injuries she
sustained were a “permanent and substantial physical deformity.”  Specifically, R.C.
2315.18(B)(3) states:

(3) There shall not be any limitation on the amount of compensatory damages that

represents damages for noneconomic loss that is recoverable in a tort action to

recover damages for injury or loss to person or property if the noneconomic losses

of the plaintiff are for either of the following:

(@) [plermanent and substantial physical deformity, loss of use of alimb, or loss of
abodily organ system[.]®

8 We note that subsection (b) states “[p]hysical functional injury that permanently prevents the injured person from
being able to independently care for self and perform life-sustaining activities.” However, this subsection does not
apply to Torres' sinjuries.



{176} As an initia matter, we note that the phrase “permanent and substantial physical
deformity” is not defined within R.C. 2315.18. However, the federal courts have elaborated on
this issue noting that, “when viewed in the context of the other language in [R.C/]
2315.18(B)(3)(a@), any ‘permanent and substantial physical deformity’ must be ‘severe and
objective.’” Sheffer v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp., S.D.Ohio No. 3:12-cv-238, 2014 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 184614, 5 (July 15, 2014), quoting Weldon v. Presley, N.D.Ohio No. 1:10 CV 1077,
2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 95248 (Aug. 9, 2011). Indeed, the “statutory cap is lifted only for
‘catastrophic’ injuries.” Sheffer at 3, citing Arbino v. Johnson & Johnson, 116 Ohio St.3d 468,
2007-0Ohi0-6948, 880 N.E.2d 420.

{1177} In support of their argument, appellants direct this court’s attention to Weldon. In
Weldon, the tria court granted summary judgment in favor of the defendants because a “small
single scar, merely 4 centimeters long,” did not amount “to a severe disfigurement.” Id. at 21.
The trial court concluded that “[s]uch incidental scars did not rise to the level of ‘substantial
physical deformities as required by [R.C.] 2315.18." Id. Thus, the plaintiff’s scar was not a
“substantial physical deformity” that would remove the statutory cap on damages.

{1178} In our further review of applicable case law, we note that there are inconsistencies
amongst the federal cases in applying the “permanent and substantial physical deformity”
standard. For instance, in Bransteter v. Moore, N.D.Ohio No. 3:09 CV 2, 2009 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 6692 (Jan. 21, 2009), the plaintiff sustained a perforated bowel. The injury necessitated
several surgeries and the plaintiff ultimately had a scar asaresult. Noting the lack of legidative
history or Ohio case law to assist in answering the question, the federal district court determined

that “scarring may be so severe as to qualify as a serious disfigurement.” Id. at 6. The court



determined that the better course would be to “resolve the issue following tria testimony.” Id.
a 7. Therefore, the district court granted plaintiff’s request for a jury interrogatory for the
“permanent and substantial physical deformity” issue.

{179} We aso note Ross v. Home Depot USA Inc., S.D.Ohio No. 2:12-cv-743, 2014 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 133507 (Sept. 23, 2014). In Ross, the plaintiff suffered injuriesto her shoulder and
knee that resulted in “multiple ‘misshapened,” ‘unnatural’ and ‘distorted’ conditions in both her
left knee and shoulder.” Rossat 16. The defendant moved for summary judgment and argued
that the plaintiff’s injuries did not amount to “permanent and substantial physical deformities’
pursuant to R.C. 2315.18. The plaintiff argued that whether she suffered a “permanent and
substantial physical deformity” was a question to be determined by the jury. The district court
ruled that the evidence presented by the plaintiff was sufficient to create an issue of fact as to
whether her knee or shoulder injury amounted to a “permanent and substantia physical
deformity.” Id.

{1180} Taking into consideration our above analysis, we note that the issue of whether
Torres sustained a “permanent and substantial physical deformity” was an issue for the jury to
decide. Ross at 17-18 (noting that “[i]f the plaintiff sets forth sufficient evidence to cross that
evidentiary threshold, whether the injury indeed constitutes a * permanent and substantial physical
deformity’ is an issue for the jury to decide.”). Thus, there existed sufficient evidence for the
jury to determine that Torres sustained “permanent and substantial physical deformities.”

{1181} In the instant matter, Torres was very serioudly injured. Torres suffered an open
skull fracture with intracranial hemorrhaging and a frontal sinus fracture. As a result, her
injuries necessitated several operations. Sheisblind in her right eye and has a diminished sense

of taste and smell. Because of the brain injuries, Torres suffers from cognitive and behavioral



functioning limitations that affect her every day. As noted above in our anaysis of Torres's
economic damages, a clinical neuropsychologist testified to Torres's diminished cognitive
capabilities and the affect it has on her daily life.

{1182} Moreover, we note the following details of Torres' s testimony:

[Torres's counsel]: Now, | can tell you | think you look fairly fine. Can you tell
the jury what bothers you about your face? Can you show what’s different?

[Torres]: My face, my front right here (indicating).

[Torres'scounsel]: Can you step forward and let them see alittle closer?

[Torres]: Likemy scar on the front (indicating) and the whole side (indicating).

[Torres'scounsel]: What isthat little indentation right there?

[Torres]: It'sadent from when they had surgery and they put everything back in.

[Torres'scounsel]: And isthere any other scars on your forehead?

[Torres]: None besidesthis (indicating) one.

[Torres'scounsel]: What about the side?

[Torres]: Thisal here (indicating) is all dented.

{1183} Thus, in our review of the record, we find that there existed sufficient evidence for
the jury to determine that Torres sustained “permanent and substantial physical deformities.”
Accordingly, appellants fourth assignment of error is overruled.

C. Stipulations

{1184} In appellants’ fifth assignment of error, appellants argue that they did not stipulate

that Rojas had a “permanent and substantial physical deformity.” Appellants contend that

although Rojas's counsel presented an offer to stipulate that Rojas's injuries amounted to a



“permanent and substantial physical deformity,” the offer to stipulate was never accepted by
appellants' counsel.

{1185} A dtipulation is “a voluntary agreement entered into between opposing parties
concerning the disposition of some relevant point in order to avoid the necessity for proof on an
issue.” Wilson v. Harvey, 164 Ohio App.3d 278, 2005-Ohio-5722, 842 N.E.2d 83, § 12 (8th
Dist.). Stipulations can further be utilized to “narrow the range of issues to be litigated.” Id.
A dtipulation as to afact effectively “renders proof [of that fact] unnecessary.” Ricev. Rice, 8th
Dist. Cuyahoga No. 78682, 2001 Ohio App. LEXIS 4983, 11 (Nov. 8, 2001). “Once entered
into by the parties and accepted by the court, a stipulation is binding upon the parties as ‘a fact
deemed adjudicated for purposes of determining the remaining issues in the case.’” Bodrock v.
Bodrock, 8th Dist. Cuyahoga No. 104177, 2016-Ohio-5852, 19, quoting Dejoseph v. Dejoseph,
7th Dist. Mahoning No. 10 MA 156, 2011-Ohio-3173, 1 35.

{1186} Furthermore, where parties choose to stipulate to facts, they “*waive any error that
may have occurred with respect to the fact that the trial court decided [the] case without hearing
evidence presented by the parties’ on the issue to which the parties stipulated.” Bodrock at id.,
quoting Rice at id. Thus, “it is ‘fundamentally unfair’ for a party to enter into a stipulation, fail
to object to an alleged inaccuracy, and then argue that a stipulation is against the weight of the
evidence on appeal.” Tisci v. Smith, 2016-Ohio-635, 60 N.E.3d 525, § 25 (3d Dist.), citing
Havens v. Havens, 10th Dist. Franklin No. 11AP-708, 2012-Ohio-2867, | 22.

{1187} To the extent that appellants contend that they did not accept the stipulation that
Rojas's injuries amounted to “permanent and substantial physical deformities,” we note the

following exchange:



THE COURT: | wanted to know if there’'s an issue as to whether the injuries to
either involve an amount — do they amount to a permanent and substantial
physical deformity?

[Rojas’'scounsel]:  Yes.

THE COURT: I'm asking the defendants.

[Appellants counsel]: They certainly do for [Rojas|]. Waell, say the language
again from the caps statute. Can you just read it again?

THE COURT: *“Do theinjuries and losses involved amount to a permanent and
substantia physical deformity?’

[Appellants’ counsel]: They don't for [Torres).

THE COURT: You want me to submit an interrogatory to the jury as to that
issue?

[Appellants counsel]: Well —
THE COURT: It'sokay. If you do, you do.

[Appellants’ counsel]: | mean, permanent — is it permanent and physical? It's
not or?

THE COURT: Amount to a permanent and substantial physical deformity.
[Appellants’ counsel]: [Torres] does not have a physical deformity and it’s and.
THE COURT: So we want an interrogatory about this?

[Appellants’ counsel]: [Rojas] has aphysical deformity.

[Torres' scounsel]: What is he reading?

[Rojas’'scounsel]: First of al, [Torres's counsel] is not here.

THE COURT: Itisacapsissue.

[Rojas’'s counsel]:  Yes, it is. For [Rojas], | think [appellants counsel] is

stipulating that [Rojas] has a substantial physical deformity. | don’t think there's
an issue with regard to [Rojas].



THE COURT: You're not getting more copies. I'm not wasting anymore
paper, but | will submit the othersto the jury. Do you agree?

[Martinez’scounsel]:  Yes.

[Rojas's counsel]:  [Appellants counsel] is saying that [Torres] does not have a
substantial.

[Appellants’ counsel]: A substantial permanent physical deformity.

[Torres's counsel]:  Physical deformity would be the scars to her head when she
had the surgery performed, and I'm suggesting those are, in fact, substantia
physical deformities.

[Appellants counsel]: | would agree it is a physical deformity, but I would
disagreethat it is substantial.

[Rojas's counsel]:  So we do not confuse the jury, should we pose the question
for [Rojas]?

THE COURT: No.

[Rojas'scounsel]: Wearejust stipulating to it.

[Appellants’ counsel]: | mean, I'm not on the record stipulating that

[Rojas] has a substantial and permanent physical deformity. 1'm just saying it is
aquestion for the jury and that | agree that —

THE COURT: Waitaminute. You want thisfor [Rojas] aswell?

[Appellants’ counsel]:  No, no, I'm saying — | can just anticipate —
THE COURT: Just asto[Torres|?

[Appellants counsel]: Yes. I'm anticipating [Rojas's counsel] closing
argument, [appellants counsel] has already stipulated a substantial —

THE COURT: It's not an issue. Don’'t even mention it. It is not necessary for
you to mention it.

[Rojas's counsel]: Based on the Court, after this is all over with, there is no
guestion that [Rojas] has a substantial physical deformity.

THE COURT: That iscorrect.

[Rojas’'scounsel]: | won't mention it.



[Appellants’ counsel]: And I'm not objecting that it is not referenced regarding
[Rojas].

[Rojas’'scounsel]: | mean, | do talk about [Rojas ] physical deformity.

[Appellants’ counsel]: Sure. Thank you, Your Honor. | agree. Thejury can

consider it certainly for [Torres], but | disagree that it is a substantial physical

deformity.
(Tr. 1403-1407.)

{9188} First, we note that appellants' counsel did not object to the stipulation asto Rojas's
injuries amounting to “permanent and substantial physical deformities.” Therefore, appellants
have forfeited all but plain error. The Ohio Supreme Court has recently discussed plain error in
the civil context in State v. Morgan, 153 Ohio St.3d 196, 2017-Ohio-7565, 103 N.E.3d 784, 1 40.

[I]1n order for acourt to find plain error in a civil case, an appellant must establish

(1) a deviation from a legal rule, (2) that the error was obvious, and (3) that the

error affected the basic fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial

process, and therefore challenged the legitimacy of the underlying judicia

process. [Goldfuss v. Davidson, 79 Ohio St.3d 116, 679 N.E.2d 1099 (1997)].

As when they apply crimina plain-error review, reviewing courts applying civil

plain-error review “must proceed with the utmost caution, limiting the doctrine

strictly to those extremely rare cases where exceptional circumstances require its

application to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice.” Id. at 121.

{1189} Second, the result of the above exchange is painfully clear: appellants counsel
stipulated to Rojas's injuries amounting to “permanent and substantial physical deformities.”
Therefore, to the extent that appellants argue that the stipulation was never “accepted” by
appellants counsel, we disagree.

{1190} In particular, when asked by the trial court whether Rojas’'s injuries amounted to
“permanent and substantial physical deformities,” appellants counsel stated that the injuries
“certainly do for [Rojas].” And thereafter appellants counsel stated that the injuries “don’t

[amount to a “permanent and substantial physical deformity”] for [Torres].” (Tr. 1403.)



Further, with regards to Torres s injuries, appellants' counsel further stated that “1 would agree it
isaphysical deformity, but | would disagree that it is substantial.” (Tr. 1405.)

{1191} Moreover, to the extent that appellants argue that the trial court disrupted their
statements, we note that the trial court gave all parties ample opportunity to express their
concerns regarding the stipulations. Indeed, the trial court gave all parties, especially appellants
counsel, an opportunity to withdraw from the stipulation. Therefore, in our review of the record,
we can only conclude that appellants’ counsel chose to stipulate to Rojas sinjuries.

{1192} Accordingly, appellants’ fifth assignment of error is overruled.

D. Damages Capped at $350,000

{1193} In their sixth assignment of error, appellants argue that the trial court lacked
jurisdiction to award Rojas and Torres noneconomic damages greater than $350,000.

{1194} Appellants urge usto “mold” the verdict to award both Rojas and Torres $350,000
in damages. Pursuant to R.C. 2315.18(B)(2), if a plaintiff fails to prove a “permanent and
substantial physical deformity,” damages are capped at $350,000. Appellants contend that
because Rojas and Torres did not each prove a “permanent and substantial physical deformity,”
the trial court lacked jurisdiction to enter jJudgment on an award above the statutory limit.

{1195} We note that the trial court did not include an interrogatory requiring the jury to
make a specific finding as to whether Rojas’ s injuries were a* permanent and substantial physical
deformity.” However, as we noted in our above analysis, the parties stipulated that Rojas had a
“permanent and substantial physical deformity.” Therefore, appellants have waived any error as
it relates to not including the interrogatory as to Rojas’ s injuries.

{1196} To the extent that appellants argue that Torres's award should have been limited to

$350,000, we note the following interrogatory: “do the injuries and losses of Kiara Torres



amount to a permanent and substantial physical deformity?’ to which al members of the jury
panel responded “yes.” Thus, appellants’ argument to the contrary is wholly without merit.

{1197} Accordingly, appellants’ sixth assignment of error is overruled.

[11. Conclusion

{1198} Based on the foregoing analysis, we cannot say that the trial court abused its
discretion in denying appellants motion for a new trial. Nor can we say the trial court erred in
denying appellants' post-judgment motion pursuant to R.C. 2315.19. The awards of damages
were not excessive given the severity of the injuries to both Rojas and Torres. Moreover, there
existed sufficient evidence for the jury to determine that Torres's injuries amounted to a
“permanent and substantial physical deformity,” the parties clearly stipulated that Rojas' s injuries
amounted to a “permanent and substantial physical deformity,” and Torres's and Rojas's
damages awards were not capped at $350,000.

{1199} Judgment affirmed.

It is ordered that appellees recover from appellants costs herein taxed.

The court finds there were reasonable grounds for this appeal .

It is ordered that a special mandate be sent to said court to carry this judgment into
execution.

A certified copy of this entry shall constitute the mandate pursuant to Rule 27 of the

Rules of Appellate Procedure.

FRANK D. CELEBREZZE, JR., JUDGE

ANITA LASTER MAYS, J., CONCURS;
SEAN C. GALLAGHER, P.J.,, CONCURS IN JUDGMENT ONLY IN PART AND DISSENTS
IN PART WITH SEPARATE OPINION



SEAN C. GALLAGHER, J, CONCURRING IN JUDGMENT ONLY IN PART AND
DISSENTING IN PART:

{91100} 1 respectfully concur in judgment only with the mgjority opinion in paragraphs
1-59. | do not believe it was proper for plaintiffs counsel to argue that defense counsel was
misstating the law on liability. Defense counsel had every right to present a theory of the case,
and the defense’ s theory — that liability is an either/or proposition based on the facts of the case,
in that either Martinez or English was responsible for the accident — is not a misstatement of the
law. Infact, the jury agreed that it was an all-or-nothing proposition. The defense had a firm
basis for advancing such atheory. Martinez was indicted on two counts of aggravated vehicular
assault and pled guilty to a reduced charge of negligent assault for his conduct in causing the
collison. English was not cited or charged by police. Nevertheless, because the trial court
gave a cautionary instruction on counsel’s comments that the jury is presumed to have followed,
| concur in judgment only with the majority’ s outcome on the first two assigned errors.

{1101} On the third assigned error, | respectfully dissent. Torres was awarded $1.8
million for economic damages stemming from her lost earning capacity and past medical
expenses. Torres provided no other basis to support the economic damages sought.  Although
the mgjority concludes that other economic damages could have been considered by the jury, the
jury was not provided any other measure of damages or any other method of calculating
economic damages. Tort recovery may not be had for damages that are speculative, and thus we
must limit the review to the damages actually sought.

{11102} Torres asked the jury to consider her $168,000 of past medical expenses as

economic damages (Tr. 1523:9-16) but failed to present evidence of lost earning capacity



sufficient to justify the remaining portion of the damages award. Torres aso argued in closing
that the jury could assume a minimum wage income in absence of expert evidence demonstrating
her vocational opportunities and lost earning capacity. Tr. 1524:1-7. Even if that was an
appropriate method of seeking lost earnings or wages, the jury was not provided any means to
calculate the present value of the lost earnings over Torres's lifetime. The only economic
damages demonstrated through the record were her medical expenses. | am constrained by my
prior position from MADFAN, Inc. v. Makris, 2017-Ohio-979, 86 N.E.3d 707, 1 8 (8th Dist.),
which | believeis controlling on thisissue.

{1103} | dso cannot conclude from the record that the parties stipulated that Rojas
incurred a substantial and permanent physical deformity for the purposes of the noneconomic
damages cap under R.C. 2315.18(B)(3)(a). Neither Torres nor Rojas filed a responsive briefing
to address this issue. App.R. 16(A)(7).” As the magjority notes, defense counsel specifically
stated that she was not on record to a stipulation, but she conceded there was sufficient evidence
to put the issue to the jury for consideration.?  After that discussion, Rojas asked the trial court
to include a jury interrogatory as it related to Rojas. The trial court denied Rojas's request
without explanation. Rojas's counsel attempted to clarify by stating that there is no question
that Rojas has a “substantial physical deformity,” to which the court stated “that is correct.”
That is not a stipulation, but instead is the court taking judicial notice of what is actually atriable
issue of fact. Arbino v. Johnson & Johnson, 116 Ohio St.3d 468, 2007-Ohio-6948, 880 N.E.2d

420, 1 40 (courts must apply the statutory law to the facts as found by the jury; they cannot alter

7 Neither Rojas or Torresincluded a responsive argument to the third, fourth, or fifth assignments of error.  App.R.
16(A)(7). Their joint brief appearsto address issues and assigned errors not raised in this appeal .

8 Tr. 1406:3-7. “I'm not on the record stipulating that he [Rojas] has a substantial and permanent physical
deformity. I’'mjust sayingitisaquestion for thejury * * *.”



the finding of facts themselves). The issue should have been presented to the jury for
consideration asit was for Torres.

{11104} Importantly, the defense has no burden to object to the failure to submit a jury
interrogatory that determines whether the limitation to noneconomic damages applies. It isthe
plaintiffs burden to demonstrate that the limitations set forth under R.C. 2315.18(B) do not
apply. If anything, Rojas should have renewed his objection to the trial court’s failure to
provide the requested interrogatory as it pertained to his case.

{1105} For the foregoing reasons, | cannot fully join the majority’s decision and

respectfully dissent. | would remand for anew trial on damages.



